#### Her2 cross talk and therapeutic resistance in breast cancer

## Laura M. Bender<sup>1</sup>, Rita Nahta <sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Winship Cancer Institute, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322-1013, <sup>2</sup> Departments of Pharmacology and Hematology/Oncology, School of Medicine, Winship Cancer Institute, and Molecular and Systems Pharmacology Program, Graduate Division of Biomedical and Biological Sciences, Emory University, Atlanta, GA 30322-1013

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Mechanisms of HER2-dependent tumorigenesis
- 4. Endocrine resistance
  - 4.1. HER2/Estrogen receptor cross talk
- 5. Trastuzumab resistance
  - 5.1. HER family signaling
  - 5.2. PI3K signaling
  - 5.3. Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor cross talk
- 6. Perspective
- 7. References

#### 1. ABSTRACT

The HER2 receptor tyrosine kinase is amplified and/or overexpressed in approximately 30% of metastatic breast cancers. Interactions and cross signaling from the HER2 receptor to other growth factor receptors may potentially contribute to therapeutic resistance. In this review, we discuss HER2 receptor cross talk with the estrogen receptor and implications toward resistance to endocrine therapies. We also review mechanisms of resistance to the HER2-targeted antibody trastuzumab, including signaling from other members of the HER family, increased signaling through the PI3-kinase pathway, and cross talk from the insulin-like growth factor-I receptor to HER2. Finally, we will provide perspective on how HER2 receptor cross talk may provide critical information for developing novel therapeutic options for HER2-overexpressing breast cancers.

#### 2. INTRODUCTION

Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2) is a member of the epidermal growth factor (EGF) or erbB family of receptor tyrosine kinases, which also includes HER3 and HER4. HER3 is the only member that lacks intrinsic tyrosine kinase activity, and HER2 is unique in that it does not have a known ligand. When ligands bind to the EGF receptor (EGFR), HER3, or HER4, receptor dimerization occurs, with HER2 being the preferred dimerization partner (1). Dimerization activates multiple downstream signaling cascades including the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphoinositide-3-kinase (PI3K) pathways, which promote cellular proliferation, survival, migration, invasion, and differentiation.

Overexpression of HER2 occurs in approximately 30% of metastatic breast carcinomas, due

primarily to gene amplification, and is associated with an increased tendency for metastasis and reduced disease-free and overall survival (2, 3). HER2 is an attractive therapeutic target in breast cancers because of the tight correlation between overexpression and poor prognosis, and because normal cells express relatively low levels of HER2. Trastuzumab (Herceptin), a recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody directed against the extracellular domain of HER2 (4), was approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (U. S. F. D. A.) in 1998 for clinical use against metastatic breast cancers that overexpress HER2. Response rates to trastuzumab monotherapy range from 12% to 34% with median duration of 9 months (4, 5). Combination with chemotherapeutic agents increases response rates, but duration remains under one year. Thus, resistance to trastuzumab is a significant clinical problem.

To improve available treatments for HER2-overexpressing breast cancer, a better understanding of the mechanisms contributing to response and resistance to trastuzumab is needed. In addition, the mechanisms of HER2 signaling and interactions with other pathways must be examined to more effectively treat HER2-overexpressing breast cancers. In this review, we will discuss recent studies that demonstrate interaction and cross talk between HER2 and other growth factor receptor pathways and therapeutic implications.

# 3. MECHANISMS OF HER2-DEPENDENT TUMORIGENESIS

Trans-phosphorylation by HER2 appears to be an important mechanism by which this receptor tyrosine kinase promotes tumorigenesis. This is evident within the erbB family itself, as HER2 is frequently co-expressed with HER3 and EGFR in breast cancer cells. The HER2/HER3 dimer is thought to be the most potent signaling complex in the erbB family, resulting in direct activation of the PI3K pathway. The transforming capacity of HER2 was increased synergistically in the presence of HER3 (6). while loss of HER3 prevented proliferation of HER2overexpressing breast cancer cells (7). In vivo, HER3 expression was not only increased in transgenic HER2 mouse models, but was actually tyrosine phosphorylated, suggesting that HER2 phosphorylates HER3 (8). Importantly, cells that lack HER3 expression were insensitive to the murine precursor of trastuzumab, 4D5 (9). Thus, interaction and phosphorylation of HER3 appears to be essential for HER2-mediated mammary cell proliferation and tumorigenesis. In addition to interacting with and phosphorylating members of its receptor family, HER2 also activates other receptor signaling pathways.

#### 4. ENDOCRINE RESISTANCE

Approximately two-thirds of primary breast cancers express the estrogen receptor alpha isoform (ER). Modulators of ER activity represent the first example of targeted anti-neoplastic therapy. Tamoxifen, a non-steroidal serum estrogen receptor modulator (SERM), was the first ER-targeted agent to be approved for clinical use.

Tamoxifen is a competitive inhibitor of estrogen binding to the ER, and induces a receptor conformational change such that ER transcriptional activity is repressed. Other ER modulators used clinically for the treatment of ER-positive breast cancers include aromatase inhibitors and steroidal anti-estrogens such as ICI 182,780 (Faslodex) (10).

Those breast cancers that show low or absent ER expression display primary resistance to ER-targeted therapies. A subset of ER-positive breast cancers also demonstrates primary resistance, while the majority of tumors that initially respond to ER modulators eventually acquire resistance. Hence, endocrine resistance is a major clinical problem in the treatment of breast cancer. ER expression and function are generally intact in endocrineresistant breast tumors, as supported by data showing full DNA binding capability of ER with subsequent transcriptional activity in resistant cells (11). Mutations in the ER are rare, although a point mutation resulting in a hypersensitive receptor capable of responding to low levels of estrogen stimulation was previously noted in a premalignant proliferative lesion of the breast (12). Mechanisms leading to the development of endocrine resistance are not completely understood, but current data strongly supports a role for growth factor receptor cross talk to the estrogen receptor.

## 4.1. HER2/estrogen receptor cross talk

Long-term exposure of MCF7 ER-positive breast cancer cells to tamoxifen produced resistant clones that expressed ER levels equivalent to tamoxifen-sensitive parental MCF7 cells (13). These tamoxifen-resistant cells demonstrated increased levels of phosphorylated and total EGFR and HER2, as well as of downstream ERK1/2 (13, 14). Similarly, long-term culture of MCF7 cells in the antiestrogen ICI 182,780 yielded resistant cells with heightened EGFR signaling and increased MAPK activation (15). The EGFR-targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) gefitinib (ZD1839; Iressa) completely blocked basal and EGF/TGF alpha-stimulated ERK1/2 activation and inhibited growth of tamoxifen-resistant cells (13, 14). Suppression of HER2 activity has also been shown to increase tamoxifenmediated inhibition of breast cancer cell proliferation (16). Furthermore, transfection of HER2 rendered ER-positive breast cancer cells estrogen-insensitive and tamoxifenresistant, with the HER ligand heregulin (HRG) stimulating a direct and rapid phosphorylation of ER (17). EGF has also been shown to stimulate phosphorylation of ER in MCF7 HER2 stable transfectants (MCF7/HER2), with gefitinib blocking both HRG- and EGF-induced ER phosphorylation (18). Conversely, in these same cells, estrogen and tamoxifen both stimulated phosphorylation of EGFR and HER2, demonstrating that tamoxifen acts as an agonist in the setting of elevated HER2 expression; again, these effects were blocked by gefitinib (18). BT474 breast cancer cells, which possess endogenous overexpression of HER2 due to gene amplification, showed similar effects in estrogen and tamoxifen induced phosphorylation, which was blocked by gefitinib (18). Interestingly, in contrast to MCF7 parental cells, MCF7/HER2 demonstrated interaction between HER2 and ER with cytoplasmic localization of ER and increased

phospho-ERK1/2 (16). Estrogen stimulation increased this receptor interaction, whereas ICI 182,780 disrupted the ER/HER2 complex and promoted nuclear localization of ER (16). Collectively, these data indicate that ER and HER2 have a bidirectional cross talk which leads to tamoxifen resistance or conversion of tamoxifen to an ER agonist.

In vivo data also supports a role for EGFR/HER2 signaling and ER cross talk in endocrine resistance. Xenografts of MCF7/HER2 were growth inhibited by estrogen deprivation and growth stimulated by tamoxifen, demonstrating interaction between the HER2 and ER pathways and resistance to tamoxifen in ER-positive HER2-overexpressing MCF7 cells (18). Gefitinib suppressed tamoxifen-induced growth of MCF7/HER2 xenografts (18). Comparison of MCF7/HER2 cells with parental MCF7 cells showed cross-phosphorylation of ER and EGFR/HER2 signaling in a bidirectional manner. These cells also showed increased phosphorylation of ERK1/2, Akt, and the ER co-activator AIB1/Src-3 (amplified in breast cancer 1; Src-3, steroid receptor co-activator-3). Importantly, patients with tamoxifen-treated ER-positive breast cancers showing high expression levels of both AIB1 and HER2 had the highest rate of recurrence versus tumors expressing neither or only one of AIB1 or HER2 at high levels (19). Similarly, elevated levels of AIB1, HER2, and HER3 or increased expression of one of EGFR, HER2, or HER3 in combination with high levels of AIB1 increased the risk of relapse on tamoxifen treatment. In this latter study (20), HER2 and AIB1 co-overexpression exhibited approximately 2-fold increased risk of relapse, while HER3 and AIB1 cooverexpression showed a 3.7-fold increased risk of relapse for tamoxifen-treated patients. Thus, EGFR family members promote resistance to endocrine agents in the presence of the ER coactivator AIB1.

Clinical trials have examined inhibition of growth factor signaling as a therapeutic strategy in endocrineresistant breast cancer. Based on evidence suggesting that cross talk between the estrogen and HER2 pathways promotes endocrine therapy resistance, the aromatase inhibitor (AI) letrozole was combined with trastuzumab in a phase II trial of ER+/HER2+ advanced breast cancer patients (21). The overall response rate was 26% with a clinical benefit rate of 52%, suggesting possible benefit from combination trastuzumab and letrozole in patients with ER+ and HER2+ breast cancer. However, the mechanisms mediating response versus molecular resistance in this population need to be determined, as approximately half of the patients did not respond. Another, more recent phase II trial of gefitinib with neoadjuvant AI anastrozole showed no additional clinical benefit versus anastrozole alone in patients with early (stage I to IIIB) ER+ breast cancer (22). Hence, inhibition of HER family growth factor signaling with targeted therapies appears to be an attractive strategy, at least for a subset of endocrineresistant metastatic or advanced breast cancers that are ER+ and HER2+, warranting further study in this population.

## 5. TRASTUZUMAB RESISTANCE

Approximately one-third of HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancers respond to single-

agent trastuzumab (4,5), with almost two-thirds responding to combination taxane - trastuzumab regimens (23,24). However, responses are short-lived, averaging less than one year (4,5,23,24). In the adjuvant setting, administration of trastuzumab in combination with or following chemotherapy improves disease-free and overall survival rates in patients with early-stage breast cancer (25-27). However, approximately 15% of patients still develop metastatic disease despite trastuzumab-based adjuvant chemotherapy. Thus, both de novo and acquired trastuzumab resistance are significant clinical problems in metastatic and early disease. Preclinical studies examining the molecular mechanisms contributing to trastuzumab resistance are important in order to achieve a greater response rate, and to identify novel agents that will benefit trastuzumab-refractory breast cancer patients.

Most preclinical models have reported that her2 amplification and protein overexpression are maintained in trastuzumab-resistant derivatives of HER2-overexpressing cells (28,29), indicating that the molecular target (HER2) is still intact. Specific mechanisms resulting in trastuzumab resistance are not fully understood, but several proposed models now exist, including but not limited to the inability of trastuzumab to block HER heterodimerization or signaling from other HER receptors (29-32), increased PI3K signaling (33-35), insulin-like growth factor-I receptor (IGF-IR) signaling (28, 36-37), and truncated, kinase-active forms of HER2 (39). Interactions of HER2 signaling with other signaling pathways as a mechanism of trastuzumab resistance will be reviewed below.

## 5.1. HER family signaling

Although trastuzumab is able to diminish signaling downstream of HER2, it does not disrupt heterodimer formation between HER2 and other HER family receptors. Hence, compensatory signaling downstream of HER heterodimers occurs and can potentially contribute to trastuzumab resistance. EGFR. HER3, or HER4 ligands EGF, TGF (transforming growth factor)-alpha, betacellulin, and HRG have been shown to increase downstream HER signaling and prevent trastuzumab-mediated growth inhibition (29-32). Ritter et al. (29) recently reported that trastuzumabresistant BT474-derived cells expressed elevated protein levels of EGFR/HER2 heterodimers and phosphorylated EGFR, and increased transcripts for the HER ligands EGF, TGF-alpha, heparin-binding EGF, and HRG. The EGFR-directed kinase inhibitors erlotinib and gefitinib and the dual EGFR/HER2 kinase inhibitor lapatinib suppressed growth of trastuzumab-resistant cells and inhibited phosphorylation of EGFR, HER2, and HER3. Lapatinib has also been shown by other groups (40,41) to be effective in trastuzumab-refractory breast cancer cells, suggesting possible translational therapeutic relevance to these findings. Data showing increased signaling by HER receptors and increased levels of HER ligands as a potential mechanism of resistance suggest that monitoring levels of HER ligands in HER2overexpressing patients treated with trastuzumab may be a useful strategy for predicting response.

## 5.2. PI3K signaling

Constitutive PI3K signaling has been shown to inhibit cell cycle arrest and apoptosis mediated by trastuzumab (33). In addition, trastuzumab-resistant cells derived from the BT474 HER2-overexpressing breast cancer line demonstrated elevated levels of phosphorylated Akt and Akt kinase activity compared with parental cells (42). These resistant cells also showed increased sensitivity to LY294002, a small molecule inhibitor of PI3K. Nagata et al. (34) provided compelling evidence supporting a role for the PI3K/Akt pathway in trastuzumab resistance. They demonstrated that downregulation of the phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) increased PI3K/Akt signaling and blocked trastuzumab-mediated growth arrest of HER2overexpressing breast cancer cells. Importantly, using breast tumor biopsies, they showed that an absence of PTEN expression was associated with reduced response to trastuzumab-based therapy. Furthermore, they showed that inhibitors of Akt and mTOR signaling restored trastuzumab sensitivity in vitro and in vivo (34,43).

More recently, Berns *et al.* (35) identified PTEN as the only gene whose knockdown resulted in trastuzumab resistance using a large-scale RNA interference screen. They followed up this discovery by showing that oncogenic PI3K mutants confer resistance to trastuzumab in cell culture. Most importantly, they demonstrated that oncogenic PI3K mutations or low PTEN expression was associated with reduced trastuzumab response in breast cancer patients, and that combination PI3K mutation and PTEN loss identified those with worst response.

Collectively, these studies strongly support PTEN loss and increased PI3K signaling as predictors of trastuzumab resistance, and suggest that PI3K inhibitors should be explored as potential therapies in patients with trastuzumab-refractory tumors. Clinical trials examining mTOR inhibitors in trastuzumab-refractory populations are ongoing. PI3K inhibitors have been slower to move into the clinic due to multiple PI3K isoforms and concerns about toxicity; however, novel PI3K small molecule inhibitors have recently entered clinical phases of development, and show hope of being tested in trastuzumab-refractory breast cancers.

#### 5.3. Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor cross talk

The first preclinical study to examine trastuzumab resistance demonstrated that stable overexpression of IGF-IR reduced trastuzumab-mediated growth arrest of SKBR3 HER2-overexpressing breast cancer cells (36). In that study, expression of IGF-binding protein 3 (IGFBP3), which blocks IGF-I-mediated activation of IGF-IR, restored trastuzumab sensitivity. In addition, IGFBP3 increased the trastuzumab sensitivity of HER2-stably transfected MCF7 cells, which have high endogenous IGF-IR levels.

By developing an *in vitro* model of resistance by chronic exposure of SKBR3 cells to trastuzumab (28), we further demonstrated that IGF-IR plays a role in resistance. Although total IGF-I receptor levels were unchanged between trastuzumab-sensitive parental cells and resistant

cells, a unique interaction between IGF-IR and HER2 was identified exclusively in resistant cells (38). This interaction appeared to facilitate cross talk from IGF-IR to HER2. such that IGF-I stimulation phosphorylation of HER2, and inhibition of IGF-IR, either by the neutralizing antibody alpha IR3 or the IGF-IR tyrosine kinase inhibitor I-OMe-AG538, blocked phosphorylation of HER2. This cross talk occurred uniquely in the trastuzumab-resistant cells, and not in the trastuzumab-sensitive parental cells. Furthermore, our results showed that resistant cells exhibit more rapid IGF-I stimulation of downstream PI3K/Akt and MAPK pathways relative to parental cells. Inhibition of IGF-IR signaling either by antibody blockade or IGF-IR tyrosine kinase inhibition restored trastuzumab sensitivity in our in vitro resistant model, demonstrating the potential importance of the IGF-I pathway as a therapeutic target in trastuzumabresistant breast cancer.

In addition, IGF-I stimulation resulted in downregulation of the cyclin-dependent kinase (cdk) inhibiting protein  $p27^{kip1}$  in breast cancer cells (37,38). Reduced expression of  $p27^{kip1}$  was associated previously with trastuzumab resistance (28,33,44), and increased expression of  $p27^{kip1}$  restored trastuzumab sensitivity in our resistant model (28). Hence,  $p27^{kip1}$  downregulation may occur subsequent to increased IGF-IR signaling, and reduced  $p27^{kip1}$  levels may serve as a predictive marker for trastuzumab resistance.

#### 6. PERSPECTIVE

Cross talk and trans-phosphorylation is an important mechanism utilized by the HER2 receptor to activate multiple signaling pathways and drive mammary tumorigenesis, as well as possibly lead to drug resistance. Interaction and activation of other members of the erbB family may contribute to diminished response to the HER2targeted antibody trastuzumab. In addition, interaction and cross talk with IGF-IR has been demonstrated in breast cancer cells that have become refractory to trastuzumab (38). HER2/ER cross talk has been shown to result in resistance to endocrine agents in ER+/HER2+ breast cancers (18,19). Thus, a clear understanding of how interactions and cross talk between HER2 and other growth factor receptors impact response to anti-neoplastic therapies can lead to the design and testing of additional targeted agents for use against HER2-overexpressing breast cancers.

A novel HER2-targeted agent, lapatinib (Tykerb, GW572016, GlaxoSmithKline), was recently approved by the U. S. F. D. A. for use against HER2-overexpressing breast cancers in combination with the chemotherapeutic agent capecitabine (45). Lapatinib is a dual inhibitor of the EGFR and HER2 tyrosine kinase domains, and has shown efficacy in preclinical models of HER2-overexpressing breast cancer including trastuzumab-refractory cells (29,40,41). A phase III trial of HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer patients, who were heavily pretreated and trastuzumab refractory, demonstrated that lapatinib plus capecitabine doubled the median time to progression (TTP) and median progression-free survival

(PFS) (both 36.9 weeks) compared with capecitabine alone (median TTP 19.7 weeks and PFS 17.9 weeks) (45).

Lapatinib has been shown to interrupt baseline and ligand-stimulated activity of EGFR and HER2 and to block downstream signaling through the Akt and MAPK pathways in vitro and in vivo in models of HER2overexpressing breast cancer (46,47). Published evidence also indicated that lapatinib was able to overcome and inhibit IGF-I cross signaling in trastuzumab-resistant cells (41). Interestingly, a clinical trial of lapatinib in EGFR- or HER2-overexpressing solid tumors demonstrated that clinical response was associated with increased pretreatment expression of phosphorylated and total HER2, MAPK signaling, IGF-IR, p70 S6 kinase (downstream of mTOR pathway), and TGF-alpha compared with nonresponders (48). Thus, potential mechanisms leading to trastuzumab resistance may actually increase sensitivity to lapatinib.

In addition to lapatinib, future efforts to further understand the mechanisms and therapeutic implications of interactions of HER2 with other signaling pathways should yield novel therapies for use against breast cancers that have progressed on trastuzumab.

#### 7. REFERENCES

- 1. D. Graus-Porta, R. R. Beerli, J. M. Daly, and N. E. Hynes: ErbB-2, the preferred heterodimerization partner of all ErbB receptors, is a mediator of lateral signaling. *EMBO* 16, 1647–1655 (1997)
- 2. D. J. Slamon, G. M. Clark, S. G. Wong, W. J. Levin, A. Ullrich, and W. L. McGuire: Human brest cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER-2/neu oncogene. *Science* 235, 177-182 (1987)
- 3. D. J. Slamon, W. Godolphin, L. A. Jones, J. A. Holt, S. G. Wong, D. E. Keith, W. J. Levin, S. G. Stuart, J. A. Udove, A. Ullrich, and M. F. Press: Human breast cancer: correlation of relapse and survival with amplification of the HER2-2/neu proto-oncogene in human breast and ovarian cancer. *Science* 244, 707-712 (1989)
- 4. M. A. Cobleigh, C. L. Vogel, D. Tripathy, N. J. Robert, S. Scholl, L. Fehrenbacher, J. M. Wolter, V. Paton, S. Shak, G. Lieberman, and D. J. Slamon: Multinational study of the efficacy and safety of humanized anti-HER2 monoclonal antibody in women who have HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer that has progressed after chemotherapy for metastatic disease. *J Clin Oncol* 17, 2639-2648 (1999)
- 5. C. L. Vogel, M. A. Cobleigh, D. Tripathy, J. C. Gutheil, L. N. Harris, L. Fehrenbacher, D. J. Slamon, M. Murphy, W. F. Novotny, M. Burchmore, S. Shak, S. J. Stewart, and M. Press: Efficacy and safety of trastuzumab as a single agent in first-line treatment of HER2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 20, 719-726 (2002) 6. M. Alimandi, A. Romano, M. C. Curia, R. Muraro, P. Fedi, S. A. Aaronson, P. P. Di Fiore, and M. H. Kraus: Cooperative signaling of ErbB3 and ErbB2 in neoplastic transformation and human mammary carcinomas. *Oncogene* 10, 1813–1821 (1995)

- 7. T. Holbro, R. R. Beerli, F. Maurer, M. Koziczak, C. F. Barbas 3rd, and N. E. Hynes: The ErbB2/ErbB3 heterodimer functions as an oncogenic unit: ErbB2 requires ErbB3 to drive breast tumor cell proliferation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 100, 8933-8938 (2003)
- 8. P. M. Siegel, E. D. Ryan, R. D. Cardiff, and W. J. Muller: Elevated expression of activated forms of Neu/ErbB-2 and ErbB-3 are involved in the induction of mammary tumors in transgenic mice: implications for human breast cancer. *EMBO* 18, 2149–2164 (1999)
- 9. H. A. Lane, I. Beuvink, A. B. Motoyama, J. M. Daly, R. M. Neve, and N. E. Hynes: ErbB2 Potentiates Breast Tumor Proliferation through Modulation of p27<sup>Kip1</sup>-Cdk2 Complex Formation: Receptor Overexpression Does Not Determine Growth Dependency. *Mol Cell Biol* 20, 3210-3223 (2000)
- 10. A. U. Buzdar and G. N. Hortobagyi: Update on endocrine therapy for breast cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* 4, 527-534 (1998)
- 11. S. R. D. Johnston, B. Lu, M. Dowsett, X. Liang, M. Kaufmann, G. K. Scott, and C. C. Benz: Comparison of estrogen receptor DNA binding in untreated and acquired antiestrogen-resistant human breast tumors. *Cancer Res* 57, 3723-3727 (1997)
- 12. S. A. Fuqua, C. Wiltschke, Q. X. Zhang, A. Borg, C. G. Castles, W. E. Friedrichs, T. Hopp, S. Hilsenbeck, S. Mohsin, P. O'Connell, and D. C. Allred: A hypersensitive estrogen receptor-alpha mutation in premalignant breast lesions. *Cancer Res* 60, 4026-4029 (2000)
- 13. J. M. Gee, I. R. Hutcheson, J. M. Knowlden, D. Barrow, M. E. Harper, A. E. Wakeling, and R. I. Nicholson: The EGFR-selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor ZD 1839 (Iressa) is an effective inhibitor of tamoxifenresistant breast cancer growth. *Proc Am Soc Clin Oncol* 20, 71a (2001)
- 14. I. R. Hutcheson, J. M. Knowlden, D. Barrow, H. E. Jones, J. M. Gee, and R. I. Nicholson: The novel ERdownregulator, Faslodex, modulates EGFR/MAPK activity in tamoxifen-resistant MCF-7 breast cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* 7, 3778s (2001)
- 15. R. A. McClelland, D. Barrow, T. A. Madden, C. M. Dutkowski, J. Pamment, J. M. Knowlden, J. M. Gee, and R. I. Nicholson: Enhanced epidermal growth factor receptor signaling in MCF7 breast cancer cells after long-term culture in the presence of the pure antiestrogen ICI 182,780 (Faslodex). *Endocrino*logy 142, 2776-2788 (2001)
- 16. Z. Yang, C. J. Barnes, and R. Kumar: Human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 status modulates subcellular localization of and interaction with estrogen receptor alpha in breast cancer cells. *Clin Cancer Res* 10, 3621-3628 (2004)
- 17. R. J. Pietras, J. Arboleda, D. M. Reese, N. Wongvipat, M. D. Pegram, L. Ramos, C. M. Gorman, M. G. Parker, M. X. Sliwkowski, and D. J. Slamon: HER-2 tyrosine kinase pathway targets estrogen receptor and promotes hormone-independent growth in human breast cancer cells. *Oncogene* 10, 2435-2446 (1995)
- 18. J. Shou, S. Massarweh, C. K. Osborne, A. E. Wakeling, S. Ali, H. Weiss, and R. Schiff: Mechanisms of tamoxifen resistance: increased estrogen receptor-HER2/neu crosstalk in ER/HER2-positive breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 96, 926-935 (2004)

- 19. C. K. Osborne, V. Bardou, T. A. Hopp, G. C. Chamness, S. G. Hilsenbeck, S. A. Fuqua, J. Wong, D. C. Allred, G. M. Clark, and R. Schiff: Role of the estrogen receptor coactivator AIB1 (SRC-3) and HER-2/neu in tamoxifen resistance in breast cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst* 95, 353-361 (2003)
- 20. T. Kirkegaard, L. M. McGlynn, F. M. Campbell, S. Muller, S. M. Tovey, B. Dunne, K. V. Nielsen, T. G. Cooke, and J. M. Bartlett: Amplified in breast cancer 1 in human epidermal growth factor receptor-positive tumors of tamoxifen-treated breast cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 1405-1411 (2007)
- 21. P. K. Marcom, C. Isaacs, L. Harris, Z. W. Wong, A. Kommarreddy, N. Novielli, G. Mann, Y. Tao, M. J. Ellis: The combination of letrozole and trastuzumab as first or second-line biological therapy produces durable responses in a subset of HER2 positive and ER positive advanced breast cancers. *Breast Cancer Res Treat* 102, 43-49 (2007) 22. I. E. Smith, G. Walsh, A. Skene, A. Llombart, J. I. Mayordomo, S. Detre, J. Salter, E. Clark, P. Magill, and M. Dowsett: A phase II placebo-controlled trial of neoadjuvant anastrozole alone or with gefitinib in early breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 25, 3816-3822 (2007)
- 23. A. D. Seidman, M. N. Fornier, F. J. Esteva, L. Tan, S. Kaptain, A. Bach, K. S. Panageas, C. Arroyo, V. Valero, V. Currie, T. Gilewski, M. Theodoulou, M. E. Moynahan, M. Moasser, N. Sklarin, M. Dickler, G. D'Andrea, M. Cristofanilli, E. Rivera, G. N. Hortobagyi, L. Norton, and C. A. Hudis: Weekly trastuzumab and paclitaxel therapy for metastatic breast cancer with analysis of efficacy by HER2 immunophenotype and gene amplification. *J Clin Oncol* 19, 2587-2595 (2001)
- 24. F. J. Esteva, V. Valero, D. Booser, L. T. Guerra, J. L. Murray, L. Pusztai, M. Cristofanilli, B. Arun, B. Esmaeli, H. A. Fritsche, N. Sneige, T. L. Smith, and G. N. Hortobagyi: Phase II study of weekly docetaxel and trastuzumab for patients with HER-2-overexpressing metastatic breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 20, 1800-1808 (2002)
- 25. E. H. Romond, E. A. Perez, J. Bryant, V. J. Suman, C. E. Geyer Jr, N. E. Davidson, E. Tan-Chiu, S. Martino, S. Paik, P. A. Kaufman, S. M. Swain, T. M. Pisansky, L. Fehrenbacher, L. A. Kutteh, V. G. Vogel, D. W. Visscher, G. Yothers, R. B. Jenkins, A. M. Brown, S. R. Dakhil, E. P. Mamounas, W. L. Lingle, P. M. Klein, J. N. Ingle, N. Wolmark: Trastuzumab plus adjuvant chemotherapy for operable HER2-positive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 353, 1673-1684 (2005)
- 26. M. J. Piccart-Gebhart, M. Procter, B. Leyland-Jones, A. Goldhirsch, M. Untch, I. Smith, L. Gianni, J. Baselga, R. Bell, C. Jackisch, D. Cameron, M. Dowsett, C. H. Barrios, G. Steger, C. S. Huang, M. Andersson, M. Inbar, M. Lichinitser, I. Lang, U. Nitz, H. Iwata, C. Thomssen, C. Lohrisch, T. M. Suter, J. Ruschoff, T. Suto, V. Greatorex, C. Ward, C. Straehle, E. McFadden, M. S. Dolci, R. D. Gelber: Herceptin Adjuvant (HERA) Trial Study Team. Trastuzumab after adjuvant chemotherapy in HER2-positive breast cancer. *N Engl J Med* 353, 1659-1672 (2005)
- 27. A. U. Buzdar, N. K. Ibrahim, D. Francis, D. J. Booser, E. S. Thomas, R. L. Theriault, L. Pusztai, M. C. Green, B. K. Arun, S. H. Giordano, M. Cristofanilli, D. K. Frye, T. L.

- Smith, K. K. Hunt, S. E. Singletary, A. A. Sahin, M. S. Ewer, T. A. Buchholz, D. Berry, and G. N. Hortobagyi: Significantly higher pathologic complete remission rate after neoadjuvant therapy with trastuzumab, paclitaxel, and epirubicin chemotherapy: results of a randomized trial in human epidermal growth factor receptor 2-positive operable breast cancer. *J Clin Oncol* 23, 3676-3685 (2005) 28. R. Nahta, T. Takahashi, N. T. Ueno, M. C. Hung, F. J. Esteva: P27(kip1) down-regulation is associated with trastuzumab resistance in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 64, 3981-3986 (2004)
- 29. C. A. Ritter, M. Perez-Torres, C. Rinehart, M. Guix, T. Dugger, J. A. Engelman, C. L. Arteaga: Human breast cancer cells selected for resistance to trastuzumab in vivo overexpress epidermal growth factor receptor and ErbB ligands and remain dependent on the ErbB receptor network. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 4909-4919 (2007)
- 30. A. B. Motoyama, N. E. Hynes, and H. A. Lane: The efficacy of ErbB receptor-targeted anticancer therapeutics is influenced by the availability of epidermal growth factor-related peptides. *Cancer Res* 62, 3151-3158 (2002)
- 31. S. L. Moulder, F. M. Yakes, S. K. Muthuswamy, R. Bianco, J. F. Simpson, and C. L. Arteaga: Epidermal growth factor receptor (HER1) tyrosine kinase inhibitor ZD1839 (Iressa) inhibits HER2/neu (erbB2)-overexpressing breast cancer cells in vitro and in vivo. *Cancer Res* 61, 8887-8895 (2001)
- 32. S. Anastasi, G. Sala, C. Huiping, E. Caprini, G. Russo, S. Iacovelli, F. Lucini, S. Ingvarsson, and O. Segatto: Loss of RALT/MIG-6 expression in ERBB2-amplified breast carcinomas enhances ErbB-2 oncogenic potency and favors resistance to Herceptin. *Oncogene* 24, 4540-4548 (2005)
- 33. F. M. Yakes, W. Chinratanalab, C. A. Ritter, W. King, S. Seelig, and C. L. Arteaga: Herceptin-induced inhibition of phosphatidylinositol-3 kinase and Akt Is required for antibody-mediated effects on p27, cyclin D1, and antitumor action. *Cancer Res* 62, 4132-4141 (2002)
- 34. Y. Nagata, K. H. Lan, X. Zhou, M. Tan, F. J. Esteva, A. A. Sahin, K. S. Klos, P. Li, B. P. Monia, N. T. Nguyen, G. N. Hortobagyi, M. C. Hung, and D. Yu: PTEN activation contributes to tumor inhibition by trastuzumab, and loss of PTEN predicts trastuzumab resistance in patients. *Cancer Cell* 6, 117-127 (2004)
- 35. K. Berns, H. M. Horlings, B. T. Hennessy, M. Madiredjo, E. M. Hijmans, K. Beelen, S. C. Linn, A. M. Gonzalez-Angulo, K. Stemke-Hale, M. Hauptmann, R. L. Beijersbergen, G. B. Mills, M. J. van de Vijver, and R. Bernards: A functional genetic approach identifies the PI3K pathway as a major determinant of trastuzumab resistance in breast cancer. *Cancer Cell* 12, 395-402 (2007) 36. Y. Lu, X. Zi, Y. Zhao, D. Mascarenhas, M. Pollak: Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor signaling and resistance to trastuzumab (Herceptin). *J Natl Cancer Inst* 93, 1852-1857 (2001)
- 37. Y. Lu, X. Zi, and M. Pollak: Molecular mechanisms underlying IGF-I-induced attenuation of the growth-inhibitory activity of trastuzumab (Herceptin) on SKBR3 breast cancer cells. *Int J Cancer* 108, 334-341 (2004)
- 38. R Nahta, LX Yuan, B Zhang, R Kobayashi, FJ Esteva FJ. Insulin-like growth factor-I receptor/human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 heterodimerization contributes to

trastuzumab resistance of breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 65, 11118-11128 (2005)

- 39. J Anido, M Scaltriti, JJ Bech Serra, B Santiago Josefat, FR Todo, J Baselga, J Arribas. Biosynthesis of tumorigenic HER2 C-terminal fragments by alternative initiation of translation. *EMBO J* 25, 3234-3244 (2006)
- 40. GE Konecny, MD Pegram, N Venkatesan, R Finn, G Yang, M Rahmeh, M Untch, DW Rusnak, G Spehar, RJ Mullin, BR Keith, TM Gilmer, M Berger, KC Podratz, and DJ Slamon. Activity of the dual kinase inhibitor lapatinib (GW572016) against HER-2-overexpressing and trastuzumab-treated breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res* 66, 1630-1639 (2006)
- 41. R Nahta, LX Yuan, Y Du, and FJ Esteva. Lapatinib induces apoptosis in trastuzumab-resistant breast cancer cells: effects on insulin-like growth factor I signaling. *Mol Cancer Ther* 6, 667-674 (2007)
- 42. CT Chan, MZ Metz, SE Kane. Differential sensitivities of trastuzumab (Herceptin)-resistant human breast cancer cells to phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI-3K) and epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) kinase inhibitors. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* 91, 187-201 (2005)
- 43. CH Lu, SL Wyszomierski, LM Tseng, MH Sun, KH Lan, CL Neal, GB Mills, GN Hortobagyi, FJ Esteva, Yu D. Preclinical Testing of Clinically Applicable Strategies for Overcoming Trastuzumab Resistance Caused by PTEN Deficiency. *Clin Cancer Res* 13, 5883-5888 (2007)
- 44. Le XF, Claret FX, Lammayot A, Tian L, Deshpande D, LaPushin R, Tari AM, Bast RC Jr. The role of cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p27Kip1 in anti-HER2 antibody-induced G1 cell cycle arrest and tumor growth inhibition. *J Biol Chem* 278, 23441-23450 (2003)
- 45. CE Geyer, J Forster, D Lindquist, S Chan, CG Romieu, T Pienkowski, A Janqiello-Gruszfeld, J Crown, A Chan, B Kaufman, D Skarlos, M Campone, N Davidson, M Berger, C Oliva, SD Rubin, S Stein, and D Cameron. Lapatinib plus capecitabine for Her2-positive advanced breast cancer. *New Engl J Med* 355, 2733-2743 (2006)
- 46. Rusnak DW, Lackey K, Affleck K, Wood ER, Alligood KJ, Rhodes N, Keith BR, Murray DM, Knight WB, Mullin RJ, Gilmer TM. The effects of the novel, reversible epidermal growth factor receptor/ErbB-2 tyrosine kinase inhibitor, GW2016, on the growth of human normal and tumor-derived cell lines in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Cancer Ther* 1, 85-94 (2001)
- 47. Xia W, Mullin RJ, Keith BR, Liu LH, Ma H, Rusnak DW, Owens G, Alligood KJ, Spector NL. Anti-tumor activity of GW572016: a dual tyrosine kinase inhibitor blocks EGF activation of EGFR/erbB2 and downstream Erk1/2 and AKT pathways. *Oncogene* 21, 6255-6263 (2002)
- 48. Spector NL, Xia W, Burris H 3rd, Hurwitz H, Dees EC, Dowlati A, O'Neil B, Overmoyer B, Marcom PK, Blackwell KL, Smith DA, Koch KM, Stead A, Mangum S, Ellis MJ, Liu L, Man AK, Bremer TM, Harris J, Bacus S. Study of the biologic effects of lapatinib, a reversible inhibitor of ErbB1 and ErbB2 tyrosine kinases, on tumor growth and survival pathways in patients with advanced malignancies. *J Clin Oncol* 23, 2502-2512 (2005)

**Abbreviations:** HER2, human epidermal growth factor receptor 2; EGF, epidermal growth factor; EGFR,

epidermal growth factor receptor; MAPK, mitogenactivated protein kinase; PI3K, phosphoinositide-3-kinase; U.S.F.D.A., United States Food and Drug Administration; ER, estrogen receptor; SERM, serum estrogen receptor modulator; TKI, tyrosine kinase inhibitor; HRG, heregulin; AIB1, amplified in breast cancer 1; Src-3, steroid receptor co-activator-3; AI, aromatase inhibitor; TGF, transforming growth factor; PTEN, phosphatase and tensin; IGF-IR, insulin-like growth factor-I receptor; IGFBP, insulin-like growth factor binding protein; cdk, cyclin-dependent kinase; TTP, time to progression; PFS, progression-free survival

**Key Words:** erbB2, Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor, Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I Receptor, Estrogen Receptor; Review

**Send correspondence to:** Dr Rita Nahta, Department of Pharmacology, Emory University, Suite 5001 Rollins Research Building, 1510 Clifton Rd., Atlanta, GA 30322, Tel: 404-778-3097, Fax: 404-778-5530, E-mail: rnahta@emory.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol13.htm